l::; STATEOFWASHINGTON - CLERK 

IN THE SUPREME COUR'l~E STATE OF WASHINGTON 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
Respondent, 

v. 

ROBERT WHEELER, 
Appellant. 

In re Personal Restraint Petition of 

ROBERT WHEELER, 
Petitioner. 

RECEfVED BY E-MAIL 
No. 71642-5-1 

PETITION FOR REVIEW/ 
MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY 
REVIEW 

f\CJ~lo l-\ 

16 I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY 

17 

18 
II. 

19 

20 

Robert Wheeler, Appellant/Petitioner, seeks the relief designated in Part II.

STATEMENT OF RELIEF REQUESTED 

Grant review of the order affirming the trial court and dismissing Wheeler's PRP, 

21 

22 
which is attached as Appendix A. 

23 III. FACTS 

24 

25 
The facts are set forth in Mr. Wheeler's opening brief and PRP. 

26 
IV. ARGUMENT 

27 This Court should accept review because both the trial and appellate court had the 

28 
discretion to reach the issue of the voluntariness ofMr. Wheeler's guilty plea and neither 

29 
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court recognized that it possessed that discretion. This Court should also accept review 

because Mr. Wheeler only recently and through the exercise of due diligence discovered 

that the State intentionally delayed filing charges against him in order to deprive Wheeler 

of juvenile court jurisdiction. Wheeler addresses those two issues in the order raised. 

There is no dispute but that Mr. Wheeler's guilty plea was invalid because he was 

misinformed about a direct consequence. The only question is whether that error is 

reviewable. The lower court opinion correctly notes that neither a trial nor an appellate 

court is obligated to review the issue. Wheeler agrees. However, the lower court then 

fails to recognize that both the trial and appellate court possessed the discretion to 

consider the issue in the interest of justice and both failed to recognize that discretion 

existed. 

This Court should accept review. 

The United States Supreme Court recognized the ability of state courts to restore 

the pendency of a case in Jimenez v. Quarterman,_ U.S._, 129 S.Ct. 681(2009). In 

that case, after Jimenez lost his first appeal and after the time to challenge his conviction 

had run, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals granted Jimenez an out-of-time appeal. /d. 

at 683-84. In his petition for a writ of habeas corpus, Jimenez argued that the 

discretionary decision to grant an otherwise out-of-time appeal restored the pendency of 

the case. !d. at 684. The Supreme Court agreed, reasoning once the Texas Court of 

Criminal Appeals granted the out-of-time appeal, Jimenez's case was no longer final for 
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purposes of collateral review. !d. at 686. In other words, when the state court exercised its 

discretionary power to entertain an otherwise out-of-time appeal the conviction, which 

had earlier been final, was no longer. 

Court rules gave the trial court and give this Court the discretion to reach the 

obvious merits of Wheeler's claim. The pendency of a case otherwise final under RAP 

12.7 can be revived pursuant to RAP 2.5(c). Washington courts have interpreted RAP 

2.5( c )(1) to allow trial courts, as well as appellate courts, discretion to revisit an issue on 

remand that was not the subject ofthe earlier appeal. State v. Barberio, 121 Wash.2d 48, 

51, 846 P .2d 519 (1993 ). Because no court recognized that it had the discretion to 

consider the voluntariness of Wheeler's guilty plea, this Court should grant review and 

remand with appropriate instructions-allowing, but not requiring the trial court to 

review that issue. 

Likewise this Court should accept review of whether Wheeler's challenge to the 

intentional filing delay and resulting loss of juvenile court jurisdiction is timely because 

he exercised due diligence. The lower court concluded that Wheeler had not been 

diligent because the judge in his case noted that Wheeler was 13 years old at the time of 

the crime and not charged until he was 18 and because the charging document includes a 

date that was crossed out. 

The fact that Wheeler was not charged for 5 years does not make out a claim of 

intentional delay. Nor does what could be reasonably understood as a scrivener's error 
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on the Information. Instead, only through the discovery of internal documents which 

should have been, but were not previously disclosed by the State, could Wheeler bring 

this claim. Wheeler had every right to rely on the State's previous representations that it 

had complied with its constitutional discovery obligations. 

The simple fact of delay-standing alone-has never been sufficient to merit 

dismissal of charges. Instead, the defense must show that the State had no valid reason 

for delay and the delay was not attributable to the normal course of business. The State 

has broad discretion to decide when to prosecute and may delay prosecution until it feels 

it has adequately investigated and can establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. 

Warner, 125 Wash.2d 876, 883, 889 P.2d 479 (1995); State v. Lidge, 111 Wash.2d 845, 

850, 765 P.2d 1292 (1989). 

Until the State recently disclosed internal documents (attached to the PRP) which 

showed no investigatory reason for delay, Wheeler could not surmount that burden. Now, 

armed with both of those documents and the State's implicit concession, he can. In fact, 

additional evidence of the State's intentional delay may be found in the numerous 

documents withheld as privileged, but which may become discoverable if an evidentiary 

hearing is ordered. 

This Court should accept review to decide whether a defendant acts diligently whe 

he relies on the State's representations that it has complied with its constitutional 
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obligations or whether he must always assume he has been misled by the State and 

investigate all possible claims of relief assuming that the State has acted in bad faith. 

There appears to be no question but that the State's actions were improper. The 

State intentionally delayed filing and then kept that information hidden from Wheeler. 

This Court should accept review. 

8 V. CONCLUSION 
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This Court should accept review of Mr. Wheeler's appeal and PRP. 

DATED this 5th day of June, 2014. 

Is/ Jeffrey E. Ellis 
Jeffrey E. Ellis #17139 
Attorney for Mr. Wheeler 
Law Office of Alsept & Ellis 
621 SW Morrison St., Ste 1025 
Portland, OR 97205 
JdTreyErwinEllis@gmail.com