IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

Ilv RE THE PERSONAL RESTRAINT

PETITION OF:

ROBERT TROY WHEELER,

NO. 45029 -1 -II

Petitioner.
STATE'S RESPONSE TO PERSONAL

RESTRAINT PETITION

A. ISSUE PERTAINING TO PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION:

1. Whether Petitioner's claim of pre - accusatorial delay should be

dismissed as time barred under RCW 10.73.090, where Petitioner

failed to act with reasonable diligence in discovering the evidence

upon which that claim is based or in filing the present petition.

B. STATUS OF PETITIONER

Robert Troy Wheeler, hereinafter referred to as "Petitioner," was born on March

29, 1987. Appendix A (information and declaration for determination of probable cause).

Between December 6, 2000 and December 5, 2001, he committed the crime of first degree

child rape against his step- sister, R.L.B., and the crime of first degree child molestation
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against his step- sister, K.A.B. Appendix A. On January 25, 2005, Petitioner told Pierce

County Sheriff's Deputy Nicholson that he had placed "his hand down their panties and

rubbed their vaginal areas; he stated that he placed his finger inside R.L.B.'s vagina."

Appendix A.

His step- sisters, who were twins, were both six to seven years old at the time.

Appendix A

Although Petitioner committed these crimes when he was 13 to 14 years old, they

were not reported until November 1, 2004, when he was over 17.5 years old.' Appendix A.

On May 4, 2005, he was charged by information with first degree child rape in

count I and first degree child molestation in count 11. Appendix A. However, the

information itself appears to have been originally dated March 26, 2005, three days before

Petitioner's eighteenth birthday. Appendix A. Similarly, the declaration for determination

of probable cause appears to have been originally dated March 22, 2005, seven days before

Petitioner's eighteenth birthday. Appendix A. Both of these dates were crossed out and the

date of May 4, 2005, the date of filing, was inserted in their place on each document.

Appendix A.

Petitioner does not appear to have raised any issue with respect to the date of filing

of the information in the superior court.

Rather, he pleaded guilty as charged to first- degree rape of a child in count I and

first- degree child molestation in count 11 on April 17, 2006. Appendix B (Statement of

Defendant on Plea of Guilty). Paragraph 4 of the statement of defendant on plea of guilty

indicated that the maximum sentence for both counts was life in confinement and that the

Petitioner's date of birth is 03/29/1987; that ofK.A.B. and R.L.B. is 12/06/1994. Appendix A.

STATE'S RESPONSE TO PERSONAL

RESTRAINT PETITION

PRP- WRONGMAXI MUM2. DOC

Page2

Office of Prosecuting Attomey
930 Tacoma Avenue South, Room 946

Tacoma, Washington 98402 -2171
Main Office: (253) 798 -7400



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

maximum fine was $20,000.00. Appendix B, p. 1 -2. In paragraph 6, it stated that the

maximum sentence is 20 years for both counts, and that the maximum fine is $50,000.00.

Appendix B, p. 2.

The court's written judgment and sentence indicated in paragraph 2.3 that the

maximum term for first- degree child rape is 20 years and that the maximum fine is

50,000.00. Appendix C (warrant of commitment and judgment and sentence). It stated

that the maximums for first- degree child molestation are 10 years and $20,000.00. Id.

However, the court imposed the special sex offender sentencing alternative

SSOSA) and ordered 131.75 months in total confinement with all but two months

suspended on various conditions, including successful completion of a sex offender

treatment program with Allen Traywick, Ph.D. Appendix C, p.5.

On February 20, 2008, Petitioner stipulated that he violated the terms of his SSOSA

by drinking alcohol and failing "to obey all laws by driving a vehicle after drinking on or

about 11/07/07." Appendix D (notice of violations / stipulated agreement). He agreed to

sanctions that included reporting weekly for seven weeks, reading a book, and preparing a

one -page paper regarding that book. Appendix D.

On September 11, 2009, the sentencing court conducted a violation hearing

regarding subsequent violations. Appendix E (verbatim transcript of proceedings of

09/11/2009). It opened that hearing with the following exchange:

THE COURT: Yeah. I remember this case, Mr. Wheeler, because I
remember the State had waited until you were an adult to charge you. I
don't think that was necessarily the fairest way to treat a 13 -year old.
Although maybe this didn't come to light. I think it still came to light when
you were a minor.
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THE DEFENDANT. • Yes.

THE COURT: They still waited.

Appendix E (emphasis added).

The court went on to find that Petitioner had failed to complete sex - offender

treatment, "left town" on a ski trip to Lake Tahoe with a minor with whom he was in "a

relationship," consumed alcohol, and "violated these [ SSOSA] agreements just about every

way you can, short of formally re- offending." Appendix E. The court therefore revoked the

SSOSA on September 11, 2009, and imposed the previously- suspended time in total

confinement. Appendix E; Appendix F (Order Revoking Sentence).

After the SSOSA was revoked and approximately four years after his judgment and

sentence was filed with the clerk of the trial court, Petitioner filed his first personal

restraint petition in which he argued "that he [wa]s entitled to withdraw his plea because

that judgment and sentence misstate[d] the maximum sentences for both offenses."

Appendix G (order granting petition in part). Petitioner did not raise any issue relating to a

delay in filing charges that resulted in a loss of juvenile court jurisdiction. See Appendix G.

On July 3, 2012, this Court considered this petition and held that, while Petitioner's

judgment and sentence misstated the maximum sentences of his offenses, it was not

facially invalid because the trial court did not exceed its statutory authority in actually

sentencing the petitioner. Appendix G. It therefore held that Petitioner was not entitled to

withdraw his plea, but remanded "to the trial court for correction of the maximum

sentences set forth in [Petitioner]'sjudgment and sentence." Appendix G.

On August 22, 2012, Petitioner filed a motion to amend the judgment and sentence

in the superior court, asking that court to remove any prohibition on his family members
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having contact with him and to remove "all prohibitions against contact with minor

males." Appendix H.

On October 12, 2012, the sentencing court signed a motion and order correcting the

judgment and sentence, by which it corrected the statement of the maximum sentences set

forth in that document. Appendix C.

On November 6, 2012, Petitioner filed a notice of appeal. Appendix I.

He then filed a direct appeal, dated April 29, 2012, in this Court in Case Number

44141 -1 -II, in which he again argues that his "guilty plea was involuntary because he was

misinformed about the maximum punishment," and that, in the alternative, his "trial

counsel was ineffective for failing to request the sentencing court exercise its discretion to

consider the involuntariness of [his] guilty plea." Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB), p. 1.

But See State's Brief of Respondent. As in his previous personal restraint petition,

Petitioner did not raise any issue relating to a delay in filing charges that resulted in a loss

ofjuvenile court jurisdiction. See AOB, p. 1 -11.

On June 19, 2013, Petitioner filed another personal restraint petition, the present

petition, in which he argues for the first time, based on what he terms "newly discovered

evidence," that the State violated due process by delaying filing charges until after the

juvenile court lost jurisdiction. Personal Restraint Petition (PRP), p. 1 -5.
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1. PETITIONER'S CLAIM OF PRE - ACCUSATORIAL DELAY

SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS TIME - BARRED UNDER RCW

10.73.090 BECAUSE PETITIONER FAILED TO ACT WITH

REASONABLE DILLIGENCE IN DISCOVERING THE EVIDENCE

UPON WHICH THAT CLAIM IS BASED OR IN FILING THE

PRESENT PETITION.

There is a time limit in which to file a personal restraint petition:

No petition or motion for collateral attack on a judgment and sentence in a
criminal case may be filed more than one year after the judgment becomes
final if the judgment and sentence is valid on its face and was rendered by
a court of competent jurisdiction.

RCW 10.73.090(1).

The time limit set forth in RCW 10.73.090(1) is a mandatory rule that bars

appellate consideration of personal restraint petitions filed after the limitation period has

passed, unless the petitioner demonstrates (A) that the petition falls within an exemption to

this time limit for facial invalidity or lack ofjurisdiction or (B) that it is based solely on

one or more of the following grounds:

1) Newly discovered evidence, if the defendant acted with reasonable
diligence in discovering the evidence andfiling the petition or motion;

2) The statute that the defendant was convicted of violating was
unconstitutional on its face or as applied to the defendant's conduct;

3) The conviction was barred by double jeopardy under Amendment V of
the United States Constitution or Article I, section 9 of the State
Constitution;

4) The defendant pled not guilty and the evidence introduced at trial was
insufficient to support the conviction;

5) The sentence imposed was in excess of the court's jurisdiction; or
6) There has been a significant change in the law, whether substantive or

procedural, which is material to the conviction, sentence, or other order
entered in a criminal or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local
government, and either the legislature has expressly provided that the
change in the law is to be applied retroactively, or a court, in
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interpreting a change in the law that lacks express legislative intent
regarding retroactive application, determines that sufficient reasons exist
to require retroactive application of the changed legal standard.

RCW 10.73. 100 (emphasis added).

Solely' in RCW 10. 73.100 requires that a petition or motion which would make

use of this section cannot be based on any grounds other than one or more of the six

grounds in RCW 10.73.100." In Re Personal Restraint ofStoudmire, 141 Wn.2d 342,

348 -49, 5 P.3d 1240 (2000).

Invalid on its face, within the context of RCW 10.73.090(1), "means the judgment

and sentence evidences the invalidity without further elaboration." In re Personal

Restraint ofHemen way, 147 Wn.2d 529, 532, 55 P.3d 615 (2002) (citing, inter alia, In re

Personal Restraint ofGoodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)). "A personal

restraint petitioner has the burden of demonstrating his judgment and sentence is facially

invalid." In the Matter of the Personal Restraint ofMcKiearnan, 165 Wn.2d 777, 203

P.3d 365 (2009).

In the present case, this Court has already found that Petitioner's "judgment

became final... when the trial court filed it in 2006. RCW 10.73.090(3)(a); see State v.

Lilioispoulos, 165 Wn. 197, 199 (193 1) (suspended sentence is final judgment); State v.

Collins, 6 Wn. App. 922, 924 (1972) (fact that sentence is suspended does not affect its

finality))." Appendix G, p. 1 -2. Specifically, it became final on April 17, 2006, "[t]he date

it [wa]s filed with the clerk of the trial court." RCW 10.73.090(3)(a); Appendix C.

However, the present petition challenging that judgment and sentence was not filed

until June 19, 2013, more than seven years later. PRP, p. 1. It was, therefore, filed after the

one -year time bar of RCW 10.73.090(1) and should be dismissed unless Petitioner can
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show either (1) that it was facially invalid or (2) that one of the exceptions to RCW

10.73.090(1) found in RCW 10.73. 100 applies.

Petitioner does not contend, in the present petition, that his judgment was facially

invalid. See PRP, p. 1 -5. More important, this Court has already found that Petitioner's

judgment was not invalid on its face. Appendix G. Hence, unless Petitioner has established

that one of the RCW 10.73. 100 exceptions applies, his petition must be dismissed under

RCW 10.73.090(1).

Here, Petitioner argues that his "claim is based on newly discovered evidence of the

State's delay —the product of a public disclosure request." PRP, p. 3.

While it is true that "[t]he time limit specified in RCW 10.73.090 does not apply to

a petition or motion that is based solely on... [n]ewly discovered evidence, if the defendant

acted with reasonable diligence in discovering the evidence and filing the petition or

motion," RCW 10.73. 1 00(l). Petitioner here did not act with reasonable diligence in

discovering the evidence or filing the petition.

A petitioner may not be granted "a new trial based upon new evidence unless he

establishes t̀hat the evidence (1) will probably change the result of the trial, (2) was

discovered since the trial, (3) could not have been discovered before the trial by the

exercise ofdue diligence; (4) is material; and (5) is not merely cumulative or

impeaching. "' State v. Scott, 150 Wn. App. 281, 294, 207 P.3d 495 (2009) (quoting In re

the Personal Restraint ofBrown, 143 Wn.2d 431, 453, 21 P.3d 687 (200 1) (quoting State

v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 222 -23, 634 P.2d 868 (1981))) (emphasis added); State v.

Larson, 160 Wn. App. 577, 586, 249 P.3d 669 (2011). "A new trial may be denied if any
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one of these factors is absent." State v. Macon, 128 Wn.2d 784, 804, 911 P.2d 1004

1996).

Here, the "newly discovered evidence of the State's delay" seems to consist of an

information which was drafted before Petitioner's 18'' birthday, but not filed, and of

prosecutor's office notes which did not reference an ongoing investigation from March 7 to

May 4, 2005. PRP, p. 2.

Petitioner, however, already had evidence that the State had drafted an information

before his eighteenth birthday but failed to file it until after that birthday. The information

which was filed in this case was originally dated three days before Petitioner's eighteenth

birthday, but was not filed until 36 days after that birthday. Appendix A. This fact was

obvious on the face of the information itself, which was filed with the superior court.

Appendix A. Moreover, the fact that this information was originally dated before

Petitioner's eighteenth birthday, but not filed until after that birthday, should have made

Petitioner aware of a delay in filing that information until after that birthday. See Appendix

M

Indeed, Petitioner later indicated that he did in fact understand that there was a

delay in filing the information until after his eighteenth birthday. Appendix E. When the

superior court stated that it remembered his case because it "remembered [that] the State

had waited until you were an adult to charge you," even though the facts of the case "came

to light when you were a minor," the defendant responded, "yes." Appendix E.

Had this been a delay with which Petitioner was concerned, due diligence would

have dictated that he either further investigate that delay through such tools as a public

records request or file a motion based on the evidence of delay already evident in the
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record. A public records request would have revealed the prior drafted, but un -filed

information, and the prosecutor's office notes pertaining to March 7 to May 4, 2005, on

which Petitioner now bases his present petition. Moreover, it would have revealed that

information well before Petitioner pleaded guilty on April 17, 2006.

Hence, the information that Petitioner claims is "newly discovered evidence" could

have been discovered before he pleaded guilty by the exercise of due diligence, and

Petitioner could have brought a motion based on such evidence before he pleaded guilty

over six years ago. Because Petitioner did not act with reasonable diligence in discovering

this evidence or filing a petition or motion, he has failed to show an exception to the time

bar of RCW 10.73.090(1) found in RCW 10.73.100.

Therefore, his petition should be dismissed as time barred.

D. CONCLUSION

Petitioner's claim of pre- accusatorial delay should be dismissed as time barred

under RCW 10.73.090 because Petitioner failed to act with reasonable diligence in

discovering the evidence upon which that claim is based or in filing the present petition.